I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner Plaintiff Kevin Anderson asks this Court to accept review 

of the decision terminating review designated in Part II. 

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished 

decision, Kevin Anderson v. Charles Hamon, M.D. (No. 44388-1-II), filed 

on June 24, 2014. The copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages 1 

through 7. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by admitting 

evidence from an "anonymous friend" that Plaintiff Kevin Anderson 

was a "daily user of cocaine" even though this evidence offered little 

or no probative value, and was overwhelmingly prejudicial. 

2. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by permitting the 

Defendant to introduce evidence of Plaintiff Kevin Anderson's 

previous use of crystal meth even though this information was 100% 

irrelevant and catastrophically prejudicial. 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Underlying Facts 

Plaintiff Kevin Anderson was born and raised in Statesboro, 

Georgia. In June 2005, Kevin decided to move to Hawaii. While 

residing in Hawaii, Kevin Anderson began dating Jennifer Ray in 
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September 2005. See Trial Testimony of Jennifer Ray at 10. As their 

relationship continued and blossomed, Kevin and Jennifer planned to 

marry. 

In March 2006, Kevin Anderson began exhibiting symptoms of a 

sinus infection. See Trial Testimony of Jennifer Ray at 15-16. On 

March 21, 2006, Kevin Anderson sought medical care in Hawaii, and 

was diagnosed with a sinus infection by an urgent care physician. Id. at 

16-18. The very next day, March 22nct, Kevin Anderson experienced an 

exacerbation of his symptoms, including vomiting and a severe 

headache. Id. at 18-19. Jennifer Ray advised Kevin Anderson that he 

should go to the hospital. Id. On the same day, Jennifer Ray drove 

Kevin Anderson to the Emergency Room at Maui Memorial Hospital. 

Id. In the course of diagnosing Kevin's illness, Dr. Jeffrey Trager 

scheduled Kevin Anderson for a CT scan to rule out more serious 

medical problems. Id. at 20-21. The CT report confirmed the presence 

of a sinus infection but nothing more severe. Id. Dr. Trager advised 

Kevin Anderson to complete his antibiotic course, which he did over the 

next two weeks. Id. During this period of time, Kevin Anderson's 

symptoms improved. Id. at 22. 

On May 5, 2006, Kevin Anderson and Jennifer Ray travelled 

together to Phoenix, Arizona for a pre-arranged vacation to visit college 

friends. Id. at 22-25. During this trip, Kevin Anderson's previous 
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symptoms began to reappear. Id. As the trip wore on, Kevin 

Anderson's headache returned with a vengeance. Id. at 28-31. After 

spending four days in Arizona, Jennifer and Kevin planned to visit 

Jennifer Ray's mother who lived in Bainbridge Island. Id. at 36-37. 

Shortly after arriving in Washington on May 9th, Kevin Anderson's 

symptoms deteriorated further. Id. After being picked up by Jennifer's 

mother, all three drove north to Seattle where they decided to eat dinner 

at Ivar's Restaurant. Id. at 38-39. Kevin Anderson stayed in the family 

vehicle the entire time because he was too ill to join Jennifer and her 

mother for dinner. Id. 

Once they arrived at Lynn Ray's home on Bainbridge Island, 

Kevin Anderson stayed in Jennifer Ray's room virtually the entire time. 

See Trial Testimony of Jennifer Ray at 40-41. During this period, Kevin 

became extremely sensitive to light, and was suffering from a condition 

known as photophobia. Id. at 42. The Ray family tried to seal the 

windows in Jennifer's room in the hopes of alleviating Kevin's 

photophobia and debilitating headache. Id. 

On May 11th, Kevin and Jennifer decided that Kevin needed to 

be seen by a physician. Id. at 43. Jennifer Ray then began searching for 

a local physician and telephoned the Medical Office of Gregory Keyes, 

M.D. Id. at 44. Jennifer explained to medical staff that she was 

originally from Bainbridge Island, and that she and her boyfriend were 

3 



temporarily visiting family in the area while otherwise living in Hawaii. 

Id. at 45. Jennifer further explained that Kevin needed to see a physician 

because of a severe headache, vomiting, and other symptoms of an acute 

illness. Id. The medical staff person instructed Jennifer to bring Kevin 

to the office as soon as possible. Id. 

At approximately 11 :30 a.m. on May 11, 2006, Jennifer Ray and 

Kevin Anderson arrived at the doctor's office. I d. at 49. Because Kevin 

was so weak, Jennifer Ray assisted Kevin with walking into the facility. 

Kevin immediately sat down in the reception area, and was only able to 

sit with his head tilted back and his hands shielding his eyes from the 

light. Id. at 50-51. Jennifer Ray filled out all the medical intake forms 

because Kevin was "so out of it." I d. at 52-54. 

After the medical forms were completed, Kevin Anderson was 

escorted back to the medical room by a nurse. Id. at 54. Jennifer Ray 

accompanied Kevin back to the room to help Kevin navigate. ld. 

Jennifer stayed during the entire examination because Kevin had shown 

little ability or inclination to communicate. Id. 

After arriving at the examination room, the nurse agreed to turn 

offthe overhead lights to relieve Kevin's pain and discomfort. Id. at 56-

57. Jennifer Ray described the lighting in the room as dark and virtually 

off. Id. at 58. There were no windows in the examination room. 
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After the nurse left Kevin and Jennifer in the examination room, 

Defendant Charles Hamon, M.D., entered the room. Id. at 59. Dr. 

Hamon was temporarily filling in for Dr. Gregory Keyes as a locum 

tenens physician. Dr. Keyes was on vacation at the time. 

After entering the room, Dr. Hamon was greeted by Jennifer 

Ray, and not Kevin Anderson. Id. Ms. Ray explained that Kevin was 

her boyfriend, who had previously been diagnosed with a sinus infection 

in Hawaii several weeks prior. Id. at 60. She further explained that 

Kevin's symptoms had recently returned and had deteriorated rapidly 

over the past several days. Id. at 60-62. Ms. Ray further explained that 

Kevin had been complaining most significantly of an excruciating 1 0/10 

headache, vomiting, dry heaving, intolerance to light, and other 

symptoms. Id. at 60-64. 

Throughout the examination, Kevin Anderson never had a 

conversation with Dr. Hamon. Id. at 64. Throughout the examination, 

Dr. Hamon never turned on the overhead lights. Id. at 66. Throughout 

the examination, Dr. Hamon never even made Kevin Anderson get out 

ofhis chair. Id. at 67. 

Instead, Dr. Hamon performed a cursory examination that lasted 

as little as 10 minutes. Id. at 65. Most of this time was used to obtain a 

medical history from Jennifer Ray, and not Kevin Anderson. During the 
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entirety of the examination, Dr. Hamon never raised the issue of any 

drug use by Kevin Anderson. 

After the examination, Dr. Hamon concluded that Kevin 

Anderson simply had a reoccurrence of his sinus infection. Id. at 64. 

Instead of ordering an MRI as had occurred in Hawaii, Dr. Hamon 

simply prescribed antibiotics and pain medications. Id. at 65. Finally, 

Dr. Hamon instructed Ms. Ray to have Kevin Anderson return to his 

doctor upon arrival back in Hawaii. Id. 

Feeling relieved that Kevin was only suffering a sinus infection, 

Jennifer Ray drove Kevin Anderson back to her mother's home. Id. at 

69. After learning of Dr. Hamon's diagnosis, Jennifer Ray was 

surprised that Kevin seemed so ill and delicate, given that he was only 

suffering from a sinus infection. Id. 

Arriving back home at approximately 12:30 p.m., Kevin 

Anderson went straight back to bed. Id. at 72-74. The next morning on 

May 12th, Kevin and Jennifer had a 30 minute conversation before 

Jennifer and her mother left to attend a family baby shower. Id. at 79-

80. When they returned home at approximately 6:30p.m., Jennifer went 

to check on Kevin, who appeared to be snoring. I d. at 81. Jennifer was 

happy that Kevin was finally resting soundly, and did not attempt to 

wake him. I d. at 82-83. 
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At approximately 8:00 p.m., Jennifer attempted to rouse Kevin, 

but he was unresponsive. Id. Jennifer Ray's sister then dialed 911. Id. 

at 84. Medics arrived shortly thereafter and Kevin was immediately 

airlifted to Harborview Medical Center in Seattle. Id. Kevin Anderson 

was in a full coma at this time. A short time thereafter, Kevin Anderson 

was diagnosed with a large brain abscess in his frontal lobe following an 

MRI. Emergency brain surgery was then immediately performed. Id. at 

86-88. Kevin Anderson's brain abscess was the size of a major league 

baseball. See trial testimony of Francis Riedo, M.D. 

Kevin Anderson remained at Harborview for 54 days following 

his initial brain surgery. Kevin is now blind and partially paralyzed, and 

will continue to live with chronic, debilitating pain for the rest of his life. 

Kevin cannot live independently or hold down a job. Instead, Kevin 

lives in Statesboro, Georgia with his father, Lynn Anderson, who is the 

Sheriff of Bulloch County, Georgia, and his mother, who works at a 

local bank. See trial testimony of Lynn Anderson. 

At trial, Plaintiff presented expert testimony from Dr. Richard 

W ohns, who practices neurosurgery in the Seattle area. See trial 

testimony of Richard Wohns, M.D. Dr. Wohns and three other 

Washington physicians all opined that Defendant Charles Hamon, M.D., 

breached the standard of care by failing to order an MRI for Kevin 

Anderson at the conclusion of his examination on May 11, 2007. See 
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trial testimony of Francis Riedo, M.D., Howard Miller, M.D., and 

Terrence Davidson, M.D. According to Dr. Wohns, if Dr. Hamon had 

simply followed the appropriate standard of care and referred Kevin 

Anderson for an MRl, then Kevin Anderson's catastrophic brain damage 

would not have occurred. See Trial Testimony of Richard Wohns. 

Kevin Anderson was 27 years old at the time of the incident. 

B. Purported Drug Use 

After being transported to Harborview Medical Center, Kevin 

Anderson had his blood tested for the presence of drugs or alcohol. See 

Trial Testimony of Dr. Michael Kovar at 88. This is a routine medical 

procedure at Harborview. Kevin Anderson did not test positive for the 

presence of cocaine, methamphetamine, alcohol, or any illicit drug. Id. 

After Kevin Anderson was airlifted to Harborview Medical 

Center, Jennifer Ray and her mother arrived later via automobile. While 

at Harborview, medical personnel asked Jennifer Ray many questions 

about Kevin Anderson's medical history, including drug usage. In 

response to one set of questions, Jennifer Ray told medical personnel 

that she was aware that Kevin Anderson had used cocaine and 

methamphetamine in the past. See Trial Testimony of Jennifer Ray at 

94. Jennifer Ray insisted that Kevin Anderson had never used cocaine 

or methamphetamine in her presence. Id. at 95. And it is undisputed 

that Kevin Anderson has no criminal record of any kind. 
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Jennifer Ray's comments about Kevin Anderson's use of drugs 

were memorialized in Harborview' s medical records. In one other 

medical record, there is a reference to Kevin Anderson being a "daily 

user of cocaine." See Trial Testimony of Michael Kovar at 56-57. The 

purported source of this information is an "anonymous friend." Id. 

Although the identity of the person who reported Kevin Anderson as a 

"daily user of cocaine" was never discovered, this particular reference to 

Kevin Anderson's purported drug use was repeated throughout many of 

the Harborview Medical Records. Id. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. Introduction 

The Supreme Could should accept review under RAP 13 .4(b )(1) and 

RAP 13.4(b)(2) because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with long 

standing evidentiary law in both the Court of Appeals and the Supreme 

Court. In addition, the Supreme Court should also accept review under RAP 

13 .4(b )( 4) because this case involves an issue of substantial public interest 

that should be determined by the Supreme Court. 

The trial court grossly erred when it permitted the Defendant to taint 

the entire trial by admitting irrelevant and inflammatory innuendo regarding 

Kevin Anderson's purported drug use. None of the purported drug use was 

ever tied to the time of the alleged malpractice. Simply put, Kevin 

Anderson's unsubstantiated prior drug use had nothing to do with this trial. 
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Nevertheless, Defendant introduced Kevin Anderson's past drug use for one 

reason: to convince the jury that Kevin was a bad person. 

B. Standard of Review 

A trial court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence is reviewed for 

abuse of discretion. City of Auburn v. Hedlund, 165 Wn.2d 645, 654, 201 

P .3d 315 (2009). A trial court abuses its discretion if the "exercise of its 

discretion is manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds or 

reasons." State v. Powell, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995). 

C. Kevin Anderson's Purported Past Use of Cocaine and 
Methamphetimine was Completely Irrelevant & 
Inadmissible. 

"It is a fundamental rule of evidence that 'evidence which is not 

relevant is not admissible."' In re Det. of Post, 170 Wn.2d 302, 311, 241 

P.3d 1234 (2010) (quoting ER 402). Evidence is relevant and thus probative 

if it has "any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of 

consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less 

probable than it would be without the evidence." ER 401. "There must be a 

logical nexus between the evidence and the fact to be established." State v. 

Cochran, 102 Wn. App. 480,486,8 P.3d 313,316-17 (2000) (citing State v. 

Burkins, 94 Wn. App. 677, 692, 973 P.2d 15, review denied, 138 Wn.2d 

1014,989 P.2d 1142 (1999). 

In this case, there was no evidence suggesting that Kevin Anderson's 

purported drug use was relevant to any of the issues before the jury. There 
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was no testimony about any causal relationship between purported drug use 

and Kevin Anderson's brain abscess. Thus, Kevin Anderson's purported 

drug use was completely and utterly irrelevant. 

D. Even if Kevin Anderson's Purported Drug Use Was 
Relevant, It was Extravagantly Prejudicial and thus 
Inadmissible. 

Even relevant evidence must be excluded if it is unfairly prejudicial. 

See ER 403. As the Washington Supreme Court recently stated: "When 

evidence is likely to stimulate an emotional response rather than a rational 

decision, a danger of unfair prejudice exists." Salas v. Hi-Tech Erectors, 

168 Wn.2d 664, 671, 230 P.3d 583, 586 (2010) (citing State v. Powell, 126 

Wn.2d 244,264, 893 P.2d 615 (1995)). Unfair prejudice has been described 

as "prejudice caused by evidence of 'scant or cumulative probative force, 

dragged in by the heels for the sake of its prejudicial effect."' United States 

v. Roark, 753 F.2d 991, 994 (quoting United States v. McRae, 593 F.2d 700, 

707 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 444 U.S. 862 (1979)). "Another authority states 

that evidence may be unfairly prejudicial under rule 403 if it appeals to the 

jury's sympathies, arouses its sense of horror, provokes its instinct to 

punish, or 'triggers other mainsprings of human action."' Carson v. Fine, 

123 Wn.2d 206, 223, 867 P.2d 610, 620 (1994) (quoting 1 J. Weinstein & 

M. Berger, Evidence § 403[03], at 403-36 (1985)). "'Evidence of prior 

drug use and addiction certainly presents a danger of unfair prejudice' 

because a jury could decide a case based on its judgment that a party is a 
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bad person rather than on the merits of the case." Jones v. Bowie Industries, 

282 P.3d 316 (Alaska Sup. Ct. 2012) (quoting Liimatta v. Vest, 45 P.3d 310 

(Alaska Sup. Ct. 2002)). 

In this case, Kevin Anderson's purported use of cocaine was only 

introduced to provoke a negative emotional response from members of the 

JUry. This can be shown by analyzing several key facts. First, Kevin 

Anderson's blood test on May 1ih was negative for the presence of cocaine 

or methamphetamine. See Kovar Trial Testimony at pp. 54-56. Second, 

Defendant had no evidence tying Kevin Anderson to drug use after 

December 2005. ld. Third, even Defendant's purported expert on the 

relationship between cocaine use and a brain abscess, Dr. Michael Kovar, 

admitted on cross-examination that he had no evidence whatsoever tying 

Kevin Anderson to the use of any illegal drugs. See Kovar Trial Testimony 

at p. 88. And finally, Dr. Kovar also admitted that he had no scientific proof 

of a relationship between cocaine use and a brain abscess. Id. at 66-67. 

And finally, even though the Defendants fought long and hard to introduce 

evidence of methamphetamine use, the record shows that Kevin Anderson 

had not used methamphetamine in several years prior to his brain abscess. 

The only rational inference gleaned from this record is that 

Defendant sought to introduce Kevin Anderson's purported drug use simply 

to disparage. By attacking his character, the Defendant calculated that the 
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jury would most likely reject Kevin Anderson's request for justice on an 

emotional level. In short, Defendant's emphasis upon Kevin Anderson's 

purported drug use was analogous to advocating for jury nullification. 

E. Contributory Negligence 

In its decision, the Court of Appeals stated that Plaintiffs drug use 

was relevant to contributory negligence. The Court of Appeals analysis on 

this issue is erroneous and illogical. See Anderson Opinion at p. 5. In its 

Opinion, the Court fails to articulate the relevancy of Plaintiffs (purported) 

drug use in regards to comparative fault. Instead, the Court of Appeals 

simply states its decision in conclusory fashion. 

Plaintiffs claim for malpractice was based upon Dr. Hamon's 

failure to diagnose Kevin Anderson's brain abscess. Plaintiff Kevin 

Anderson never alleged that Defendant Hamon actually caused the 

brain abscess. Who, what, or why the brain abscess evolved is 

irrelevant in regards to whether Dr. Hamon breached the standard of 

care in failing to diagnose Plaintiff Anderson with a brain abscess. See 

Arnold v. Laird, 94 Wash. 2d 867, 870, 621 P.2d 138, 140 (1980) ("it is 

irrelevant [in regards to contributory negligence] how a dog becomes 

abnormally dangerous, i. e., whether it happens intentionally, through 

negligence, or merely through a dog's heredity."); see also Jackson v. City 

of Seattle, 15 Wash. 2d 505, 512, 131 P.2d 172, 176 (1942) (contributory 
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negligence should not have been submitted to JUry without substantial 

evidentiary support). 

Further, the only way that drug use could logically be related to 

Plaintiffs claims for malpractice would be if there was evidence that Kevin 

Anderson used drugs AFTER he was examined by Dr. Hamon and before 

he lapsed into a coma. There is not a shred of evidence to support any drug 

use of this type. Both the medical records and Dr. Michael Kovar establish 

that Kevin Anderson did not test positive for the presence of drugs at 

Harborview Medical Center. See Trial Transcript of Michael Kovar at pp. 

54-57, dated November 19, 2012. 

The folly of Defendant's argument, at trial, with respect to 

contributory negligence can be seen by analogy. For example, if 

Defendant's argument had merit than it would be proper for a defendant to 

argue that an obese person is contributorily negligent for overeating in a 

case where a surgeon botched a gastric bypass surgery. Another example 

would be to permit a defendant to introduce a plaintiffs sexual habits in the 

context of a case involving failure to diagnose an underlying medical 

condition in an AIDS patient. These two represent an almost inexhaustible 

supply of analogies to illustrate the sophistry in Defendant's arguments to 

support the notion that Plaintiffs past illicit drug use was somehow relevant 

at trial. 
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Overall, whether Kevin Anderson was negligent or reckless in 

contracting his own brain abscess is completely immaterial (a/k/a irrelevant) 

as to whether Dr. Hamon committed medical malpractice by failing to 

diagnose the condition. Logic mandates that Kevin Anderson's drug use 

was irrelevant and contributory negligence cannot provide Defendant with 

sanctuary for the erroneous introduction of this extremely prejudicial 

testimony before the jury. 

F. Testimony about Kevin Anderson's Purported Drug 
Usage Tainted the Entire Trial. 

An error in admitting evidence will not result in a reversal unless 

prejudice results. Brown v. Spokane County Fire Prot. Dist. No. 1, 100 

Wn.2d 188, 196, 668 P.2d 571 (1983). "[E]rror is not prejudicial unless,

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