90563-1

RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Sep 05, 2014, 2:28 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 44388-1-II COURT OF APPEALS NO.: 44388-1 II RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KEVIN ANDERSON,

Appellant/Plaintiff.

V.

CHARLES HAMON, M.D.,

Defendants/Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Craig McIvor, WSBA No. 12745 Of Attorneys for Respondent

LEE SMART, P.S., INC. 1800 One Convention Place 701 Pike Street, Suite 1800 Seattle, WA 98101-3929 (206) 624-7990

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

On July 27, 2012, before the trial court's ruling on his Motion for Reconsideration, Mr. Anderson filed his Third Motions in Limine. CP 229-245. Mr. Anderson reiterated the same foundation, relevancy, and prejudice arguments made regarding the drug evidence. CP 231-35.

On July 31, 2012, the trial court denied Mr. Anderson's Motion for Reconsideration. CP 425-26.

On August 6, 2012, Dr. Hamon filed his Response to Plaintiff's Third Motions in Limine. CP 461-504. Dr. Hamon argued that the trial court's July 31, 2012 Order had confirmed that much of the drug evidence was relevant and admissible, that adequate foundation supported it, and that Dr. Kovar reasonably relied on it. CP 462-72.

On September 14, 2012, the trial court heard the parties' respective motions in limine. RP (September 14, 2012 Hearing) at 1-64. During the hearing, the trial court denied Mr. Anderson's motions to exclude: (1) evidence of drug use while Mr. Anderson was living in Maui; (2) evidence of cocaine use during the Christmas holiday in 2005; (3) the Harborview records memorializing the phone call about Mr. Anderson's daily cocaine use; and (4) evidence of drug use prior to Mr. Anderson's move to Maui in 2005. CP 231-35. The trial court reasoned that it had dealt with those issues in prior rulings. RP (September 14, 2012 Hearing) at 10.

However, the trial court excluded the urine test from 2008, concluding that although relevant, its prejudicial effect outweighed its probative value. RP (September 14, 2012 Hearing) at 12. As to Mr. Anderson's motion regarding marijuana, Dr. Hamon's counsel stated that he did not intend to bring up Mr. Anderson's marijuana use; the trial

court granted Mr. Anderson's motion on that issue. *Id.* at 13. The trial court reserved ruling on admissibility of the pain pill evidence, but ultimately issued an order excluding all evidence of Mr. Anderson's use of pain pills, holding his use of pain pills was of minimal relevance to the issues in the case, and is unduly prejudicial to the Plaintiff." CP 605.

The trial court's October 17, 2102, Order on Plaintiff's Third Motions in Limine and Defendant's First Motions in Limine, memorialized the above rulings. CP 607-12.

H. During the trial, all the admitted drug evidence was limited to the issues of causation, damages, and contributory negligence.

Mr. Anderson's counsel addressed the drugs issue in his opening statement. RP (November 6, 2012 Plaintiff's Opening Statement) at 35-37. He also conceded that as of May 11, 2006, Mr. Anderson had needed brain surgery regardless of Dr. Hamon's alleged negligence. *Id.* at 37.

Dr. Hamon's counsel alos raised Mr. Anderson's drug use during opening statement, but confined his discussion of drug use to (1) the cause of Mr. Anderson's brain abscess and (2) Dr. Hamon's experts' opinions regarding Mr. Anderson's failure to seek earlier treatment to prevent the abscess from developing. RP (November 6, 2012 Defendant's Opening Statement) at 59-60.

On November 19, 2012, prior to the testimony of Dr. Kovar,

counsel for Mr. Anderson again objected to the mention of the prior drug use on hearsay grounds and asked that any mention of cocaine be limited to the record. RP (November 19, 2012 Argument re: Admission of Drug Evidence) at 1-9. The trial court heard argument and said that it would review its notes from the previous hearings and decide whether to allow testimony regarding daily cocaine use. *Id.* at 8-9. The trial court ruled later that day that it reviewed the motion in limine "extensively" and would not change its previous rulings. RP (November 19, 2012 Court's Ruling re: Cocaine and Prior Rulings) at 2.

During trial, multiple witnesses testified to whether snorting cocaine or methamphetamine can worsen a sinus infection, or to their knowledge of Mr. Anderson's usage of those drugs. *See*, *e.g.*, RP (November 7, 2012 Testimony of Francis Riedo, M.D.) at 229:2-231:13, RP (November 7, 2012 Testimony of Jennifer Ray) at 248:22-251:13; RP (November 8, 2012 Testimony of Jennifer Ray) at 302:11-312:11; 318:20-319:10; RP (November 9, 2012 Testimony of Terrence Davidson, M.D.) at 435:25-436:9); RP (November 13, 2013 Testimony of Lynn Anderson) at 569:8-573:8; RP (November 14, 2012 Testimony of Rebecca Anderson) at 840:12-840:17.

Counsel for both parties addressed the drug evidence in closing arguments. See, e.g., RP (November 21, 2012 Plaintiff's Closing

Argument) at 26:5-26:7; RP (November 21, 2012 Defense Closing Argument) at 21:22-24:20; RP (November 21, 2012 Plaintiff's Rebuttal Closing Argument) at 7:4-7:11.

I. The jury returned a verdict for Dr. Hamon, concluding that he met the standard of care.

On November 26, 2012, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Dr. Hamon, finding that he had met the standard of care and was not negligent. CP 636-37, 710.

J. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision, holding that it did not abuse its discretion in admitting limited evidence of Mr. Anderson's drug use.

On June 24, 2014, Division II of the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's ruling admitting evidence of Mr. Anderson's past drug use under ER 401 and ER 403. The Court of Appeals held that evidence of Mr. Anderson's drug use was relevant to Dr. Hamon's contributory negligence defense under ER 401 and presumed admissible under ER 402. The Court of Appeals also held that the record did not support Mr. Anderson's claim that the probative value of evidence of his drug use was substantially outweighed by any unfair prejudice under ER 403.

III. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b), which governs this Court's grant or denial of petitions for review, provides:

Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with the decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with the decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Because Mr. Anderson's Petition sets forth no grounds justifying review under RAP 13.4(b), the Court should deny his Petition.

A. The Court of Appeals decision in this case does not conflict with any Supreme Court or Court of Appeals decision.

Mr. Anderson alleges that "the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with long standing evidentiary law in both the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court." Petition at 9. Yet, he does not specify **any** Court of Appeals or Supreme Court decision with which his case conflicts. Instead, Mr. Anderson reargues the validity of the trial court's discretionary ruling admitting evidence of his drug use at trial. Notably, nothing in the Court of Appeals decision affirming the trial court's ruling to admit evidence of Mr. Anderson's drug use conflicts with current evidentiary law. Accordingly, the Court should deny review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

1. Standard for review of evidentiary rulings.

Appellate courts review a trial court's evidentiary rulings for an abuse of discretion. Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. Gregg Roofing, Inc.,

178 Wn. App. 702, 728, 315 P.3d 1143 (2013), review denied, 180 Wn.2d 1011 (2014). A court will only overturn the trial court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence if its decision is "manifestly unreasonable, exercised on untenable grounds, or based on untenable reasons." *Id*.

2. The Court of Appeals decision affirming the trial court's finding that evidence of Mr. Anderson's drug use was relevant is consistent with current law.

ER 401 defines "relevant evidence" very broadly as "evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact ... more probable or less probable." "Minimal" logical reliance is all that is required under ER 401. See Salas v. Hi-Tech Erectors, 168 Wn.2d 664, 670, 230 P.3d 583 (2010). Further, "[u]nder ER 402, all relevant evidence is admissible, unless otherwise excluded by the evidence rules." Havens v. C & D Plastics, Inc., 124 Wn.2d 158, 168, 876 P.2d 435 (1994).

Evidence of Mr. Anderson's drug use was directly relevant to the causation and damages elements of his negligence claim and to Dr. Hamon's contributory negligence defense. As part of his medical-malpractice claim, Mr. Anderson was required to demonstrate that Dr. Hamon's alleged negligence caused him injury and damages. *See* RCW 7.70.030(1); RCW 7.70.040(2). Moreover, in defending against Mr. Anderson's malpractice claim, Dr. Hamon alleged that Mr. Anderson was contributorily negligent by using drugs that may have caused his

15

sinusitis and the progression and exacerbation of sinusitis into a brain abscess. Thus, any evidence establishing that Mr. Anderson's injuries were caused by something other than Dr. Hamon's alleged negligence, including Mr. Anderson's own contributory negligence, was relevant.

Mr. Anderson conceded that while he experienced permanent injuries based on his brain abscess alone, at least some of his injuries were unavoidable and not attributed to Dr. Hamon's alleged negligence.

Additionally, Dr. Kovar testified at trial that cocaine use was a "big factor" in the perpetuation of the sinus infection, and Mr. Anderson's lack of response to antibiotics or his body's inability to fight the infection, or both. RP (November 19, 2012 Testimony of Michael Kovar, M.D.) at 53:16-53:23. He testified that he considered daily or frequent use of cocaine to be a "major factor" in sinus infections and in preventing the resolution of them. *Id.* at 52:16-52:18. Dr. Kovar testified that he believes Mr. Anderson's cocaine use was a plausible explanation for why he had a sinus infection that did not resolve "and, in fact, worsened to the point of a brain abscess." *Id.* at 57:16-57:20.

To the extent that Mr. Anderson's drug use caused his injuries, it was relevant in delineating which injuries Dr. Hamon proximately caused and which were caused by Mr. Anderson's own negligence. Because evidence of Mr. Anderson's drug use was clearly relevant, the Court of

Appeals decision affirming the trial court's ruling admitting that evidence does not conflict with any existing Supreme Court or Court of Appeals decision. Accordingly, Mr. Anderson's petition should be denied.

3. The Court of Appeals decision affirming the trial court's ruling that evidence of Mr. Anderson's drug use was not unduly prejudicial is consistent with precedential case law.

A trial court may exclude relevant evidence "if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice." ER 403. Exclusion under ER 403 is an extraordinary remedy. Carson v. Fine, 123 Wn.2d 206, 224, 867 P.2d 610 (1994). Indeed, there is a presumption favoring admissibility under ER 403. Erickson v. Robert F. Ferr, M.D., P.S., Inc., 125 Wn.2d 183, 190, 883 P.2d 313 (1994). The trial court has "considerable discretion" in administering ER 403 as a vehicle for excluding evidence. Carson, 123 Wn.2d at 226.

The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court because the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting evidence of Mr. Anderson's drug use. Mr. Anderson conceded that his brain abscess caused both physical injuries and the necessary surgeries to drain the abscess, which also caused physical injuries. The cause of the abscess was therefore highly probative to both causation and segregation of damages.

Moreover, the trial court minimized the risk of any unfair prejudice to Mr. Anderson by limiting evidence of Mr. Anderson's drug use to pre-

5697202.doc

injury instances relevant to causation, CP 204-05, while excluding other evidence of drug use. RP (June 22, 2012 Hearing) at 18:4-18:15; CP 204-05; CP 204-05, 607-12; CP 605. The trial court did so after diligently weighing the relative probative value of evidence of Mr. Anderson's drug use against the risk of unfair prejudice to him. Because there was no evidence that the trial court abused its discretion by admitting this evidence after weighing its probative value under ER 403, the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court.

Finally, contrary to Mr. Anderson's contention, past history of drug use is routinely and properly ruled admissible by trial courts under an ER 403 analysis. See, e.g., Alpha v. Hooper, 440 F.3d 670, 671-72 (5th Cir. 2006) (methamphetamine use of plaintiff relevant and not unduly prejudicial); Phillips v. Hillcrest Med. Ctr., 244 F.3d 790, 800 (10th Cir. 2001) (patient's use of street drugs relevant to evaluation of physical condition in medical malpractice case, and admission of evidence not unduly prejudicial); Dillon v. Nissan Motor Co., Ltd., 986 F.2d 263, 270 (8th Cir. 1993) (plaintiff's cocaine and marijuana use relevant and not unduly prejudicial under ER 403 when relevant to claims of emotional injuries); Larkins v. Farrell Lines, Inc., 806 F.2d 510, 515 (4th Cir. 1986) (not error to allow evidence of plaintiff's history of alcoholism under ER 403 analysis when it was relevant to causation and the complaints of

medical malpractice); *McCarson v. Foreman*, 692 P.2d 537, 542 (N.M. 1984) (cocaine charge indicated use of cocaine, which was relevant and admissible under ER 403 as to negligent entrustment claim). Given that courts routinely admit evidence of drug use at trial, Mr. Anderson cannot show the Court of Appeals decision affirming the trial court's ruling admitting such evidence conflicts with existing precedential case law.

The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's decision to admit evidence of Mr. Anderson's drug use — made after weighing its probative value against its prejudice. Thus, Mr. Anderson cannot show that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with any precedential court decision such that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2). As such, the Court should deny Mr. Anderson's petition.

B. The Court of Appeals decision in this case does not implicate a significant question of Constitutional law.

Mr. Anderson does not allege that the Court of Appeals decision implicates a significant question of Constitutional law allowing review under RAP 13.4(b)(3). Therefore, no such review is warranted.

C. The Court of Appeals decision in this case does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by this Court.

Mr. Anderson wants to correct a perceived error by the Court of Appeals, which is not an acceptable criterion for review.

RAP 13.4(b) says nothing in its criteria about correcting isolated instances of injustice. This is because the Supreme Court, in passing upon petitions for review, is not operating as a court of error. Rather, it is functioning as the highest policy-making judicial body of the state. ...

The Supreme Court's view in evaluating petitions is global in nature. Consequently, the primary focus of a petition for review should be on why there is a compelling need to have the issue or issues presented decided generally. The significance of the issues must be shown to transcend the particular application of the law in question.

Wash. Appellate Prac. Deskbook §27.11 (1998).

Mr. Anderson offers no argument or evidence supporting his contention that his case involves an issue of substantial public interest warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). The reason for this omission is simple: Mr. Anderson's Petition does not involve any such issue. The only issue for which Mr. Anderson seeks review is from an unpublished Court of Appeals decision affirming the trial court's well-grounded, routine, discretionary ruling admitting limited evidence of his drug use at trial. This is an issue specific to Mr. Anderson's case, not an issue of broad public interest contemplated by RAP 13.4(b)(4). Accordingly, this Court should deny review of Mr. Anderson's petition.

IV. CONCLUSION

Mr. Anderson's Petition for Review does not present any issues that warrant review under RAP 13.4(b). The Petition should be denied.